1955

# Pacific States Cast Iron Pipe Company and Alvin T. Locke v. Harsh Utah Corporation et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Throughout this brief, appellants, Harsh Utah Corporation, Harsh Investment Corporation and Harold J. Schnitzer, will be referred to either by name or as defendants, and respondent, Alvin T. Locke, will be re-

ferred to as plaintiff or by name. Other parties to the action who have appeared from time to time but are no longer before this court, will be referred to by the name of the party.

This appeal arises out of a suit by intervening plaintiff against defendants for a bonus claimed to have been earned by plaintiff as the construction superintendent on the Hill Field Air Force Base Housing Project. Defendants counterclaim for moneys owing on a promissory note and funds supplied to plaintiff which were misappropriated by him while acting as construction superintendent at Barstow, California. The lower court awarded judgment in favor of plaintiff on his complaint and in favor of defendants on their counterclaim. Defendants appealed from the judgment against them.

All italics are ours.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **In re Background of Parties**

Plaintiff, prior to becoming acquainted with defendants, was a construction superintendent. He had had considerable experience supervising the construction of large housing projects and buildings. As a part of his employment, he had worked on what are known as Wherry Housing Projects. The Wherry Housing Act provided for a private business to finance housing projects for military personnel. It involved the use of the Federal Housing Administration procedures and a



guarantee of any mortgage on the project by the Federal National Mortgage Association. Plaintiff had become familiar with the kind of procedures set up by the Federal Housing Administration for qualifying as a sponsor of a Wherry Housing Project.

Shortly before June of 1951, plaintiff contacted defendant, Harold J. Schnitzer, at Portland, Oregon, where defendant operated and was engaged in the business of remodeling buildings and in a limited way in the construction business. Defendants, Harsh Utah Corporation and Harsh Investment Corporation, were not at that time incorporated or existing.

Defendant, Harold J. Schnitzer, did not own construction equipment nor did he do the actual building of the projects in which he had an interest. His *modus operandi* was to subcontract all of the actual construction work which he undertook.

Plaintiff informed defendant, Schnitzer, of the opportunity which existed for construction of Wherry Housing Projects. He informed him of his qualifications and suggested that a joint working arrangement be considered. Defendant, Schnitzer, was in a position to provide substantial sums of money for the financing of the proposed housing projects and had credit facilities which would supply additional sources of money.

### **In re The Contracts Between the Parties**

After several conferences, an agreement was drafted. This agreement is dated June 21, 1951, and contemplated a proposed bid on a Wherry Housing Project at Deseret Chemical Depot near Salt Lake City, Utah. The entire agreement is set forth in the appendix at page 1 and is Exhibit 156.

Plaintiff and defendant, Schnitzer, in furtherance of their agreement of June 21st, came to Salt Lake City, Utah, in July of 1951 and visited the Deseret Chemical Depot site, discussed the bids which were necessary for submission to the army and Federal Housing Administration and discussed at length the possibilities of financing the housing project should they be the successful bidder. While they were in Salt Lake City, defendant, Schnitzer, and plaintiff drew an additional document entitled "Agreement" dated July 24, 1951. The agreement was to supersede any prior agreements entered into between the parties. It differs considerably from the June 21st document. Whereas the June 21st document provided for plaintiff to assist defendant, Schnitzer, in his efforts to procure a mortgage loan for construction of the Wherry Housing Project at Deseret Chemical Depot, the second agreement dated July 24th provided for defendant, Schnitzer, to furnish the capital for the construction of the project. The second agreement dated July 24, 1951, is reproduced in the appendix at page 3 and is Exhibit 157.

The July 24th agreement provided that defendant, Schnitzer, and plaintiff would form a joint venture to construct the housing project. The joint venture was to guarantee to defendant, Schnitzer, from profits of the venture, a minimum of \$150,000.00. In addition, Schnitzer was to receive one-half of all profits earned above this amount, and plaintiff was to receive the other half. The agreement provided that it would be binding in the event that Schnitzer and Locke were successful bidders on the Deseret Housing Project.

The parties returned to Portland and bids were submitted. They were not successful in obtaining an award for the construction of the Deseret Housing Project. Both, the June 21st and the July 24th agreements provided for the preparation of bids by Locke. As a result of the various inquiries and conferences, Locke and Schnitzer had received information that other Wherry Housing Projects were being contemplated by the various branches of the armed services.

On the 29th of August, 1951, a third agreement was drawn and executed by Schnitzer and Locke. This agreement is reproduced in the appendix at page 5 and is Exhibit 158. The agreement of August 29th contemplated bids being submitted on three separate Wherry Housing Projects. They were the Davis Monthan Housing Project in Arizona, the Hill Field Housing Project in Davis County, Utah, and the Great Falls Air Force Base Housing Project at Great Falls, Montana. Locke and Schnit-

zer were the successful bidders on all three of the projects but withdrew from the Davis Monthan Housing Project bid after it had been awarded to them. The reason was that construction of two housing projects of the size of Hill Field and Great Falls overextended the facilities and finances of Schnitzer.

Locke, in the agreement of August 29th, was to provide supervision of the construction and completion of the projects in the event that an award was made to Locke and Schnitzer or their companies. Schnitzer and Locke again, in the agreement, provided for a ten percent guarantee to Schnitzer from profits of the venture and stated their understanding in the following language :

“Any company which shall be so-formed by Harold Schnitzer and Alvin T. Locke for the purpose of constructing Wherry Housing Projects shall guarantee to Harold J. Schnitzer from profits of the venture, a minimum sum equal to ten per cent of the total moneys received from the government for such construction.”

All profits in excess of the ten percent guarantee to Schnitzer were to be divided, one-half to Schnitzer and one-half to Locke. Locke agreed to devote all of his skill, energy and time to the successful completion of any project awarded to the joint venture between himself and Schnitzer. The agreement provided for a termination date of December 1, 1951, unless terminated by writing prior thereto.

On the 4th day of October, 1951, a fourth agreement was executed by Schnitzer and Locke. This agreement is reproduced in the appendix at page 7 and is Exhibit 162. For the first time, the Harsh Investment Corporation appears as a party to the agreements between Schnitzer and Locke. The agreement became and was the document under which Locke, Schnitzer and Harsh Investment Corporation operated during the construction of the Hill Field Housing Project and Great Falls, Montana project. The terms and provisions of the agreement have never been modified by writing or otherwise. It is the basic document governing the rights, duties and liabilities of the parties.

The October 4th agreement recites that there have been prior agreements contemplating bidding and construction of Wherry Housing Projects and recites that the Harsh Investment Corporation, as sponsor corporation, had three housing projects, one in Arizona, one at Ogden and one at Great Falls, Montana. It then recites that the parties desired to cancel all the agreements made before and supersede said agreements with this new agreement. These portions of the agreement of October 4th, are set forth in the "Whereas" recitals of the agreement and lay the background for that portion of the agreement which sets forth the duties and rights of the parties.

The agreement of October 4th, throughout its terms, refers to Harsh Investment Corporation as Harsh.

Schnitzer is referred to as Schnitzer and Locke as Locke. It provides that in the event Harsh was awarded a contract for the construction and management of any one of the three projects, it could employ Schnitzer or any other person or corporation to perform the actual construction of the project and did employ Locke as general construction superintendent of the projects. The contract provides that Harsh would pay to Locke for his services as construction superintendent \$1,000.00 per month retroactive to the 1st of October, 1951, for a term of one year and as long thereafter as Harsh required the services of Locke in connection with the completion of the construction projects.

Locke, agreed, in the best interest of Harsh, to devote his full time and attention exclusively to the services of Harsh and to perform such services as may be directed by Harsh.

In addition to his salary Locke was to receive, he would also receive a bonus computed in the following manner: From the net profit earned by Harsh in connection with the construction of any of the three projects, there shall first be retained by Harsh a sum of money equal to ten percent of the total amount of the bids made by Harsh and accepted by the government. On the remaining net profits earned by Harsh there shall be paid to Locke, fifty percent thereof by way of bonus. This provision is the one under which Locke claims that moneys are due and owing to him and is the basis of the court's judgment in his favor.

The contract provided for alternatives covering situations where Harsh did not elect to engage Schnitzer to do the construction work. The contract provided also that Locke would receive a sum equal to ten percent of all net profits received by Harsh on F.H.A. adjustments. Such adjustments were needed to accomplish changes in plans and specifications or increased labor costs. The sums due to Locke under the agreement other than his monthly salary and reimbursement for expenses were to be paid upon the completion of the construction projects and receipt by Harsh of profits earned.

The final paragraph of the October 4th agreement provided that Locke was to have no interest in or to the ownership or management of the housing project or in connection with any profits that might be derived therefrom, it being the intention of the parties that the interest of Locke would be limited to the construction of the projects in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

**In re Administrative Rules and Regulations for  
Military Housing Insurance under Title VIII  
of The National Housing Act.**

The Harsh Investment Corporation was awarded the contract for the construction of the Hill Field Housing Project at Ogden, and Schnitzer and Locke commenced the necessary procedures to qualify for construction of the project and obtaining necessary finances.

Exhibit 3 is the Administrative Rules and Regulations for Military Housing Insurance under Title VIII of the National Housing Act. This act sets up the requirements for sponsors of Wherry Housing Projects. Sections IV and V at pages 6 to 10 set forth the basic rules for qualifying mortgagors.

Section IV requires that the mortgagors, where the mortgage is in excess of \$200,000.00, be a corporation or trust and requires that the capital structure, methods of operation, *et cetera*, shall be subject to the Federal Housing Commissioner's Regulation which regulations are to remain in effect until the mortgage insurance is terminated.

Section V (1) requires of the mortgagor basic escrow funds to cover equipping of the rental units and initial renting expenses. Section V (2) requires the establishment of a special fund to insure that there will be funds available in addition to the proceeds of the insured mortgage to complete the housing project. This fund is to be held in escrow under an appropriate agreement approved by the housing commissioner. It requires that the escrow fund be expended for the work and material on the physical improvements prior to the advance of any mortgage money.

Section V (3) provides that the commissioner may require a deposit with the mortgagee, under an appropriate agreement, of funds necessary for the completion



of off site public utilities and streets. Section V (4) provides a system by which the corporate mortgagor shall be regulated by the housing commissioner. It provides that the commissioner shall own certain shares of special stock which stock shall acquire majority voting rights upon the happening of any of the following events:

- (a) a default under the mortgage;
- (b) violation of provisions of the charter of the mortgagor; and
- (c) violation of any valid agreement between mortgagor and mortgagee and/or the commissioner.

The section provides that the stock issued to the commissioner shall be in sufficient amount to constitute under the laws of the state of incorporation a valid, special class of stock and shall be issued in consideration of not to exceed \$100.00. The stock is to be issued in the name of the commissioner or in the name of the Federal Housing Administration. Upon the termination of all obligations of the Federal Housing Commissioner under the title, all regulations and restrictions of the mortgagor cease and the shares of special stock shall be surrendered by the commissioner upon receipt by him of his payment plus accrued dividends, if any. The provisions of Section V (4) are to be made effective by incorporation of appropriate provisions in the charter under which the mortgagor is created or by agreement. Additional restrictions concerning charges for rental services, creation of re-

serve for replacement, keeping of full and complete records and the furnishing of additional information are contained in Section V (4).

Section V (5) requires of the mortgagor a personal undertaking in an amount at least equal to ten percent of the construction costs or an escrow deposit of cash or securities in a like amount to insure that the project will be completed to the satisfaction of the housing commissioner. The Administrative Rules and Regulations for Military Housing Insurance under Title VIII of the National Housing Act, Exhibit 3 as herein recited, were all applicable to Hill Field Housing Project.

Schnitzer organized the Harsh Montana Corporation and the Harsh Utah Corporation to comply with the requirements of Sections IV and V. The Harsh Utah Corporation was issued its charter on the 20th of December, 1951. The total amount of authorized capital was \$10,400.00 paid for in full by a note from Schnitzer. All of the common stock of the corporation was held by Schnitzer except four shares issued to his nominees. The special preferred class of stock which was required by Section V (4) to be held by the Federal Housing Commissioner was provided for and issued to him.

Harsh Utah Corporation then became the mortgagor and sponsor for the construction of the Hill Air Force Housing Project. The Harsh Utah Corporation applied to Irving Trust Company for a loan on the Utah project

and received a commitment from the housing administrator to insure the loan made by Irving Trust Company. The amount, in the beginning, was in the sum of \$2,636,800.00 (Ex. 186-188).

As a part of the application for insurance commitment on the housing project, there was furnished by the Federal Housing Administrator, a financial requirement for closing of the Hill Air Force Housing Project. This document is Exhibit 188. The financial requirement for closing sets forth the F.H.A. total requirements and then breaks said amount down into various component parts. One of the basic figures contained in the document is the amount of the Construction Contract — “Lump Sum” which was shown as \$2,995,205.00. The mortgage loan is shown as \$2,636,800.00. The amount to be deposited in escrow by the mortgagor was the sum of \$585,442.00. The total amount of cash required from the mortgagor was \$651,690.00. This amount of \$651,690.00 became a sum which was necessary for the Harsh Utah Corporation to provide before it could commence construction of the housing project and qualify under the Federal Housing Administrator’s regulations.

The sum necessary to qualify Harsh Utah Corporation under F.H.A. regulations was furnished by defendant, Schnitzer. On the 21st of July, 1952, a meeting of the board of directors of the Harsh Utah Corporation was held in the Judge Building at Salt Lake City, Utah. The financial requirements for commencement of the

construction project were discussed and defendant, Schnitzer, agreed to contribute \$624,994.00 to Harsh Utah Corporation and the corporation agreed to accept said sum as contributed surplus (Ex. 161, p. 13). With the contributed surplus, Harsh Utah then had available sufficient sums to meet the financial requirement for closing. The funds which were contributed by Schnitzer were obtained through bank loans and his family, namely from his father-in-law.

The mortgage documents were executed on July 21, 1952, and the Hill Field Project was commenced, the first work being done on or about the 28th of July, 1952. The lump sum construction contract dated July 21, 1952, was executed between Harsh Investment Corporation and Harsh Utah Corporation. It was executed on behalf of Harsh Investment Corporation by the defendant, Schnitzer, and on behalf of Harsh Utah Corporation by the defendant, Schnitzer (Ex. 61 & 63). In addition to the mortgage and construction contract, on the 21st of July, 1952, Harsh Utah Corporation, as borrower, and the Irving Trust Company of New York, as lender, entered into an agreement entitled Building Loan Agreement which is Exhibit 64 and which provided for the Irving Trust Company to advance to Harsh Utah Corporation \$2,636,800.00 as a loan. With the proceeds from the loan and the contributed surplus from defendant, Schnitzer, of \$624,994.00, the Harsh Utah Corporation undertook the construction of the Hill Field Housing Project.

**In re The Construction Contract — “Lump Sum”**

Walter Hutchinson, an attorney, prepared all of the closing documents for Harsh Investment and Harsh Utah corporations. Hutchinson testified concerning the method of calculating the amount of the Construction Contract — “Lump Sum” as follows:

“Q. How, did you arrive at the figure of \$2,995,000.00, I believe that appears as the amount of the lump sum contract?

A. The FHA cost estimate was \$3,185,550.00, and under their requirement that we could reduce, that is, we had to put up in cash the difference between the cost and the loan, but that that cost could be reduced by a builder's fee which they had included in that cost provided that the builder's fee was not to be paid in cash. The builder's fee amounted to \$149,035.00. So, subtracting that from the FHA cost, we get a reduced FHA cost of \$3,036,515.00. Then we had rather included in that Three million dollar figure \$185,827.00 earmarked for carrying charges, carrying charges with interest, ear-marked for interest during construction; FHA examination fee, insurance premium, and insurance during construction, and similar costs which we just mentioned a little while ago, which were costs of the project. There was a further sum of \$41,310.00 that the sponsor had to pay for architectural fees which was also included in this FHA estimated cost. So, deducting that figure we have a net figure of \$2,995,205, and that was the amount of the construction contract.

Q. Now, how does that figure relate to the amount of the mortgage?

A. That figure is in excess, some three hundred thousand, in excess of the mortgage. Now, as I stated previously, because of the FHA requirement that we had to assure the FHA of the Sponsor's ability to complete the project by depositing in cash with the lender the difference between their estimated cost and the funds available through the mortgage proceeds, which total figure amount to some \$624,000.00.

Q. Now, that \$624,000.00, Mr. Hutchinson, how do you say; that is returned to the person placing it?

A. Well, the hundred thousand of it would be returned through the payments during construction on the construction contract.

Q. How are they figured?

A. In other words, since the contract is more than the mortgage, then the trade payment breakdown that goes with the—I must see the schedule of payments pursuant to this—is made out by the FHA to agree with that. That is, the various trades are adjusted so that the sum of the trade payments payable under this construction contract would exactly agree with the total sum payable under this contract, some approximately \$300,000.00 of it comes back to the mortgagor corporation during construction here, and the other items were the \$41,000.00 which was drawn out to pay the architect. That didn't go through. That was paid direct by the mortgagor corporation to the architect or rather reimbursed

the Government. The Government had paid the architect and the mortgagor corporation had to reimburse the Government for the architect's fees of \$41,000.00, here. That is one of the requirements, and then \$185,000.00 of it had to be held in escrow by the lender to meet the carrying charges that I just referred to. That takes up the total of the \$624,000.00—odd dollars that was put up in escrow.” (R. 336).

The above-recited testimony was undisputed.

The actual construction subcontracts were awarded by Harsh Investment Corporation. In the subcontracts, an example of which is Exhibit 4, the Harsh Utah Corporation was shown as the owner of the housing project. Several of the subcontracts were negotiated by Locke and approved by defendant, Schnitzer.

Work commenced for the clearing of the site on July 28, 1952. In the very beginning, there developed problems of an unusual and unique nature. The plats showing the elevation of the construction site indicated that the site was approximately eleven inches lower than the actual elevation. After the construction had commenced, it was discovered that natural gas might be available for the heating of the housing units. This necessitated a change in the plans and specifications since originally it was contemplated that oil furnaces would be installed. Later, butane gas was designed and finally natural gas

was installed. Harsh Investment Corporation incurred considerable expense in excess of its normal expectation because of the two problems relating to elevation and the change in heating plans.

### **In re Construction Changes**

The procedures developed by the Federal Housing Administration required the mortgagor, the contractor and the mortgagee to submit forms entitled, "Request For Consideration of Proposed Changes" to the Federal Housing Administration. An example of a number of such requests is contained in defendants' Exhibit 164. The request for changes was then approved or disapproved by the Federal Housing Administration officials. Changes involved an increase in the amount which could be insured by the Federal National Mortgage Association, a decrease in the amount, or in many instances, would, in no way, effect said amount. The requests were necessary, in all instances if Harsh was to deviate from the plans and specifications. Requests for changes were made by Irving Trust Company, Harsh Investment Corporation and Harsh Utah Corporation on the heating system changes and were rejected. On the excess earth removal problem created by the mistake in elevation, requests for changes were rejected. Some requests for changes were signed for both Harsh corporations by Locke (see first 20 requests in Ex. 164). Many were signed for both corporations by Schnitzer and some for both corporations by Kahn, the assistant manager of



both corporations. No negotiations ever occurred between Harsh Utah Corporation and Harsh Investment Corporation concerning amounts, if any, which were to be added to the Construction Contract—"Lump Sum" as a result of the change requests. A large number of such requests were approved and, during the construction of the Hill Field Project, a total net increase in the amount of the sponsor's mortgage was allowed in the sum of \$154,400.00 (see defendants' Ex. 443). This exhibit, a photostat of the Federal Housing Administration Project Analysis prepared after the close of the Hill Field Project on the 21st of December, 1954, was offered by plaintiffs as an exhibit but was rejected by the trial court. However, the information contained on it is not disputed as to its accuracy.

With the net increase of \$154,400.00 resulting from approved requests for consideration of proposed changes, the final amount of the mortgage on the Hill Field Housing Project was \$2,791,200.00. This sum constituted all of the receipts by Harsh Utah Corporation from the mortgage. All other sums which it had available were contributions to its capital from Harold Schnitzer or earnings from the rent of the individual living units at Hill Field.

Locke testified that he devoted approximately one-third of his time to the Hill Field Housing Project and divided the other two-thirds of his time between the housing project at Great Falls, Montana, and the home office

of defendants, Schnitzer and Harsh Investment Corporation, from July, 1952, through June, 1953. The actual construction work on the housing project was substantially completed in October of 1953.

### **In re Disbursements of Mortgage and Escrow Funds**

During the construction period, payments were made by the Irving Trust Company to the mortgagor, Harsh Utah Corporation, on a F.H.A. form denominated "Request for Payment." The F.H.A. file of Request for Payment is Exhibit 141. The Request for Payments were compiled by Harsh Utah Corporation from information supplied it by its subcontractors and was a representation to the Federal Housing Administration and Irving Trust Company that the amounts requested were in accordance with the construction contract and represented ninety percent of the value of work performed during the period for which the request was submitted. The requests for payment were submitted by Harsh Utah Corporation, as mortgagor, and signed by the defendant, Schnitzer, as its president. They contained a certificate by the Harsh Investment Corporation as architect on the project. The forms were submitted for approval to the Federal Housing Administration before the mortgagee was permitted to advance the sums requested. The maximum which could be drawn was ninety percent of the value of work as various jobs were evaluated.

Prior to the completion of the housing project on September 26, 1953, Pacific States Cast Iron Pipe Com-

pany, one of the material suppliers for the subcontractor, Moulding Brothers, filed a materialman's lien on the project in Davis County. Following the filing of this lien, there were filed two additional liens, one by the Utah Fire Clay Company, another material supplier of Moulding Brothers, and a number of individual painters whose employer had become insolvent while working on the Hill Field Project. The filing of the liens prevented normal processing of applications for fund advances. A bond was obtained by Harsh Investment Corporation to indemnify the lienholders and at the time said bond was filed, the Vitt Construction Company, one of the subcontractors, filed an additional lien in a very large sum.

At the time the liens were filed, there was still in the hands of Irving Trust Company, in excess of ten percent of the amount of the mortgage. Ultimately there was paid into court by Irving Trust Company, as a last advance on the proceeds of the mortgage and escrowed funds, the sum of \$550,653.35 (R. 191).

Since the deposit of the balance from Irving Trust Company, all of the parties to the original lawsuit have been paid and have released and satisfied all claims against the Harsh Investment Corporation and Harsh Utah Corporation with the exception of Locke. After the payment of all claims, there remained on deposit with the Davis County Treasurer, \$273,558.75. Most of the fund remaining with Irving Trust Company at the close

of the project represented the ten percent withholding on actual project costs and the \$154,400.00 which was ultimately approved by the Federal Housing Administration for project changes.

### **In re The Pleadings**

Locke filed his notice of mechanics lien on the 14th day of December, 1953. The lien recited that there was due and owing to him the sum of \$150,000 for services rendered, and stated as follows:

“Said lien is claimed for services rendered to Harsh Investment Corporation, Harold J. Schnitzer, Sponsor, and Harsh Utah Corporation as general superintendent of construction, pursuant to a written contract of employment with Harsh Investment Corporation, Harold J. Schnitzer, Sponsor. (R. 9).”

The notice of lien stated that the services for which payment was claimed were rendered between August, 1951, and October 10, 1953. Appellants answered the lien, denied that it was presented within the time permitted by the laws of the State of Utah, denied that any sum whatsoever was due to Locke and denied generally “that he was entitled to a lien.”

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