1955

State of Utah v. Clarence E. Bridge : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE ADMISSION IN EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S CONFESSION WAS NOT VIOLATIVE OF THE 14TH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 12, OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH, NOR TITLE 77, CHAPTER 15, SECTION 1, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

There is nothing in the record in this cause to indicate that the confession of the defendant was not voluntarily given. There is nothing in the record that said confession was obtained by force, fear, coercion or promise of immunity or benefit. The record does not show that there was any objection to the admission in evidence of the confession except "on constitutional grounds." This objection was properly overruled. The record clearly shows, as does the confession itself, that appellant was fully advised as to his rights before making the statement.

Appellant here complains of a violation of due process of law as guaranteed by the 14th Amendment of the Constitution of the United States, and Article I, Section 12, of the Constitution of Utah; the latter as augmented by the Utah Code of Civil Procedure, Section 77-15-1, 1953. Specifically, *in that appellant was denied counsel.*

The requirement of the 14th Amendment is for a fair trial. *Massey v. Moore, Warden* (1954), Advance Reports of the Supreme Court of the United States, Lawyers' Edition, Vol. 99, No. 3, page 117; citing *Betts v. Brady*, 316 U. S. 455, 462, 86 L. Ed. 1595, 1601, 62 S. Ct. 1252.

As to the statutory and constitutional provisions of the State of Utah, above set forth and relied upon by appellant, this Court has considered and resolved the question as to the right to counsel before a defendant may be questioned by police officers. The Court said:

“We have found no case which holds that a confession is not admissible in evidence merely because the defendant was immature and without the advise of counsel, friends or relatives [as appellant here argues] when it was made and *Mares v. Hill*, supra, considered this very problem and held that those facts did not make the confession inadmissible in evidence.” (Comment added.)

And,

“* * * the mere fact that a confession is made while the accused is in the custody of the police officers does not render it inadmissible.”

State v. Braasch, . . . Utah . . . , 229 P. 2d 289.

Appellant does not contend that the confession was not voluntarily given and claims no error in this respect.

POINT II

THE APPELLANT WAS NOT CONVICTED SOLELY UPON THE UNCORROBORATED TESTIMONY OF AN ACCOMPLICE AND THE CORROBORATIVE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT OF THE JURY.

Appellant says:

“It is the contention of defendant that Section 77-31-18, Utah Code Ann. (1953), which is the general statute as to testimony of accomplices and the need for corroboration of such testimony in order to support a conviction is applicable in the instant case.”

The State joins in this contention. The State also concedes that the witnesses, Brennan, McDonough, Officer Anderson and Officer Pearson, were not able to independently place the appellant at the scene of the crime. However, the testimony of the accomplice, Head, shows that appellant drove the car to the Claud Ann Apartments, where the offense was consummated, and drove the car away when the perpetrators of the crime fled. The part played by appellant in the robbery was that of driver of the get-away car. This witness also testified that he had knowledge of a *brown purse* which was supposed to contain the money and that he received this information from the appellant (R. 43). This testimony was *corroborated* by that of the witness, McDonough, who said that he heard this accomplice ask the victim “*where her brown purse was.*” The question of what amounts to sufficient corroboration has been many

times before this Court. In the case of *State v. Erwin*, 101 Utah 365, 120 P. 2d 285, this Court held:

“This Court has held this corroboration need not go to all the material facts testified to by the accomplice (*State v. Stewart*, 57 Ut. 224, 193 P. 855); that the corroborative evidence need not be sufficient in itself to support a conviction; it may be slight and entitled to little consideration. *People v. Lee*, 2 Utah 441; *State v. Spender*, 15 Utah 149, 49 P. 302. * * *

“On the other hand, the corroborating evidence must implicate the defendant in the offense and be consistent with his guilt and inconsistent with his innocence, and must do more than cast a grave suspicion on him, and all of this must be without the aid of the testimony of the accomplice. *State v. Lay*, 38 Utah 143, 110 P. 986; *State v. Butterfield*, 70 Utah 529, 261 P. 804; *State v. Park*, 44 Utah 360, 140 P. 768; *State v. Kimball*, 45 Utah 443, 146 P. 313; *State v. Powell*, 45 Utah 193, 143 P. 588; *State v. Bridwell*, 48 Utah 97, 158 P. 710; *State v. Baum*, 47 Utah 7, 151 P. 518; *State v. Frisby*, 49 Utah 227, 162 P. 616; *State v. Elmer*, 49 Utah 6, 161 P. 167; *State v. Gardner*, 83 Utah 145, 27 P. 2d 51.

“The corroborative evidence of an accomplice, unlike proof of corpus delicti, may consist in the admissions of the accused. * * *”

See Wharton on Criminal Evidence, 11th Edition, Volume 2, Section 752, 753, 748, 746 and 754, pages 1257 to 1273 inclusive. See also 25 A. L. R. 886; 87 A. L. R. 767; *State v. Wade*, 66 Utah 276, 241 P. 838; *State v. Laris*, 78 Utah 183, 2 P. 2d 243; *State v. Caroles*, 74 Utah 94, 277 P. 203; *State v. Cox*, 74 Utah 149, 277 P. 972; *People v. Derenzo*, 46 Cal. App. 2d 411, 115 P. 2d 858; and *People v. Negra*,

208 Cal. 64, 280 P. 354. In the recent case of *State v. Vigil*, ... Utah ..., 260 P. 2d 539, the Court stated the rule thusly:

“* * * the corroborating evidence must connect the defendant with the commission of the offense, *State v. Lay*, 38 Utah 143, 110 P. 986; and be consistent with his guilt and inconsistent with his innocence, *State v. Butterfield*, 70 Utah 529, 261 P. 804. The corroborating evidence must do more than cast a grave suspicion on the defendant and it must do all of these things without the aid of the testimony of the accomplice.”

In the case at bar, the corroborating evidence connects the appellant with the commission of the offense, is consistent with his guilt and inconsistent with his innocence and casts upon him more than a grave suspicion.

We are aware of the fact that the court did not instruct the jury that an accomplice's testimony must be corroborated. This was not prejudicial error. In *State v. Hall*, 112 Utah 272, 186 P. 2d 970, in an unanimous opinion, Mr. Justice Wolfe, concurring specially and directly on this issue, the Court said:

“Now as to the failure of the court to instruct on the law applicable to the testimony of an accomplice. Our Code, section 105-32-18, U. C. A. 1943, prohibits the finding of an accused guilty upon the evidence of an accomplice unless that evidence is corroborated. It reads:

‘A conviction shall not be had on the testimony of an accomplice, unless he is corroborated

by other evidence, which in itself and without the aid of the testimony of the accomplice tends to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense; and the corroboration shall not be sufficient, if it merely shows the commission of the offense or the circumstances thereof.'

* * * Counsel * * * submitted no requests for instructions nor did he take any exceptions to any instructions given by the lower court, nor to the court's refusal or failure to give any particular kind of an instruction.

"Under the circumstances there is nothing for us to do but affirm the judgment of the lower court."

Mr. Justice Wolfe in his concurring opinion went on to say:

"* * * Counsel, as an officer of the court, has the duty as a specialist on the case, which he should be, to point out a failure by the court to instruct on a salient material proposition of law. He is a back-stop in that regard. If he does not do so his client cannot afterward complain that the instructions were insufficient or incomplete.

"However, I have a doubt as to whether the provisions of Sec. 105-32-18, U. C. A. 1943, should be brought to the attention of the jury. It certainly is for the court to say, in the first instance, whether there is corroborating evidence. If there is, the court will overrule a motion for nonsuit, or for a directed verdict. But whether after that the court should instruct the jury, and thus place on it the sometimes difficult task of differentiating corroborating testimony from other testimony, presents to me a serious question. * * * *I need only signify my doubt as to the other point in order that it will not be assumed that it escaped notice and, more important, that it will not be hereafter argued that by*

implication this court held that an instruction as to the necessity for corroborating evidence was necessary.” (Emphasis added.)

CONCLUSION

The verdict and the sentence of the court below should be affirmed.